5 August 2003

Van A. Burd

22 Forrest Ave.

Cortland, NY 13045

J. S. Dearden

4 Woodlands

Foreland Rd.

Bembridge

Isle of Wight PO35 5RX

Dear Van and Jim:


Last year, on behalf of my University and the Ruskin Programme at Lancaster, I submitted an application to the National Endowment for the Humanities to help support the continuing Electronic Ruskin Project—specifically, for the edition of the Early Ruskin Manuscripts. We did not make the final cut; however, we did very well and we are being encouraged to revise the application and try again this year. 

The NEH judging process, briefly summarized, calls first on “specialists”—i.e., Ruskin specialists in particular, or Victorian scholars more generally—and second on an NEH in-house panel on editions. The former gave us the highest possible rating; in fact, the six judges scarcely raised any problems at all, and were full of praise. It was the panelists who downgraded us to the next level. Even that next level is a recommendation for funding (“Very Good—Recommended”), so we were ultimately refused because some other applications rated just a notch higher, not because there are fatal problems with the project. Rather, there are some specific problems that need addressing in a revised application.

The main problem has to do with the description of the electronic product, and I am taking steps to address that. I’m writing to you because of another problem raised at the panel stage of the review process, one that caught me somewhat by surprise.

In my narrative description of the edition for the NEH application, I summarized the materials to be included and their locations—basically, all the extant early Ruskin, from the earliest juvenilia through the preparation for Modern Painters—but I excluded the two items available in acceptable modern editions, the 1830 diary and the family letters. (Van, respecting the letters, I explained that all the poems in RFL would be re-edited to take account of their notebook versions, which had not been exhaustively collated in RFL with their epistolary versions, but that we did not intend to re-edit the letters themselves. I did remark that the manuscript bibliography would, for the sake of completeness, include a full account of the letter volumes at Yale, and that this bibliography would list some minor errors in—or at least raise queries about a few minor points in—the transcriptions printed in RFL. These are minor errors that I happened to notice, when double-checking the texts of the poems, and thought I might as well include in a manuscript bibliography, since I had the material.)

As I say, I was taken by surprise when the panel judged this decision to be not in the best interest of the edition and of Ruskin studies—that the letters and 1830 diary should be included. As I thought about it, I wondered why not, as well, if all we’re talking about is giving new life to RFL and Tour to the Lakes by reproducing them in electronic form.

How would you feel about this? I’m proposing that your editorial apparatuses and the texts as you edited them would be included in the site, under your own names. I had imagined the user of Early Ruskin Manuscripts as having your two editions at hand to consult along with the website. Converting the editions to electronic form would simply obviate the necessity of the reader having the paper copies at hand, thus extending the life and use of your editions.

Jim, I had always planned to give your edition of Iteriad new life in a different way. Your edition never made a claim to be textually authoritative, and I’ve collected the materials to provide the reader with double-checked transcriptions of Ruskin’s fair copy and draft of the poem. But of course your notes remain extraordinarily useful still, and I wanted to quote from these under your name, just as we’ll be quoting from Cook and Wedderburn’s notes under their names, and from Viljoen’s unpublished work under hers. But that’s a different issue than incorporating entire editions in their full integrity, as I’m proposing with RFL and Tour, at the recommendation of the NEH panelists. (One of the panelists, I’ve since learned, by the way, was George Landow. I recently asked him for some advice about these issues, but he explained that he couldn’t comment since he was on the panel and is therefore sworn to silence. But we can take the final recommendations as at least partly reflecting his views.)

Of course, having your editions available in electronic form would be more than a matter of convenience, since they would also be integrated into the electronic environment in such a way that they could be linked with all the resources of the edition. The user could follow links from the 1830 diary to discussions of the other diaries, to further materials about travel, picture viewing, poetic composition, and so on. The editions would become part of the full hypertext presentation of a Romantic education. In the way Early Ruskin Manuscripts is designed, your original introductions, notes, and apparatuses could be retained in their integrity, and yet still be linked with all these other resources—just as if a reader of your edition in a library were going to the shelves to find other, related materials.

Van, I mentioned earlier the few minor corrections of and/or queries about some passages in RFL that I raise in my edition’s manuscript bibliography. With the text of the letters available electronically, I could simply hang these queries and/or corrections as a note from the texts in question. As for the 1830 diary, I have examined it in order to describe it bibliographically, but I have not checked the transcription. Ideally, I would check the texts of the letters and diary with both of you at hand at Yale and the Morgan. I assume that’s not practical (although in a year or two, perhaps we could get together for a review of anything I found, and do it all at once). For now, all I contend for is converting RFL and Tour into electronic form; integrating their texts, introductions, and apparatuses into the larger edition, but retaining their integrity and assigning them to your authorship; and then notating any minor corrections (either identifying them as my corrections, or as ours, undertaken together, as the case may be). That minor correcting could be done now or later, as time allows.

Of course, much depends on what Cornell University Press and Scolar Press have to say. (Scolar appears to have been bought by Ashgate.) Both are out of print, and I have no idea how much interest the presses would have in retaining them on their lists. Before I inquire, though, I need to hear your thoughts. Do let me know what you think in a general way, as soon as you can. (I’m not asking for permission, at this point—just for your sentiments about giving or withholding permission, as the case may be.) The NEH unfortunately was very late getting results to applicants this year, and so they have given extra time for reapplication, a date now set for the start of November instead of September, the usual date. It’s likely that I could get very far with Cornell and Ashgate in that time, but I could at least state in the NEH re-application your views.

Onward with Ruskin into the electronic age! I enclose, by the way, the latest issue of the journal I edit, thinking you might enjoy it. Jim, I was very glad to see that the Ruskin’s dogs pamphlet made it into print. That’s a subject after my own heart, being as you know loyally devoted to dogs.

Best,

David Hanson

